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How shall a man escape from his ancestors, or draw off from his veins the black drop which he drew from his father’s or his mother’s life?


—R. Waldo Emerson,Conduct of Life , “Fate” (1860)









Prologue


Quang Nam Province, Republic of Vietnam


THURSDAY, 6 OCTOBER1966





He could smell them.


When he first arrived in Vietnam, the old-timers said you could smell them, but he hadn’t believed it. He couldn’t. How could anybody smell anything? You smelled everything. And it was all the same: smoke, fish, rotting meat, decaying plants; sour—everything sour.


Now Jimmie Carl Trimble was the old-timer. Eleven months in-country, nineteen years old, and an old-timer. Now he could smell them. The smoke and fish and decay were still there, but now his nose could tease out subtleties. The vinegar smell of sweat, the reek of fear, the sour musk of unwashed cotton clothing.


You smelled it, or you died.


And Jimmie Carl hadn’t died—at least not in Vietnam.


The mission was supposed to be about as uncomplicated as it got, but it had screw-up written all over it. They were to helo in, make their way from some map coordinate here to some map coordinate there, and then wait for further instructions. Jimmie Carl had been on enough of these goat-ropes to know that the instructions were almost always the same—return to where you started and don’t ask any goddamn questions. And though they obviously were venturing into Indian country, the Intel guys had assured them that no bad guys were supposed to be between the here and the there, which, of course, is exactly where the bad guys proved to be. Bad and in strength.


It was a little past midday. The men were all strung out—a few in more ways than one—as they snaked and looped through the waist-high elephant grass. They’d been walking for well over an hour and had cleared the available cover provided by a thick stand of eucalyptus and gum trees and were now exposed. The stinging sun and heat were already taking effect, and that worried Jimmie Carl. Worried him enough that he’d worked his way to the front of the column to talk to the lieutenant. As the medic, it was Jimmie Carl’s responsibility to watch the men closely for signs of heat stroke or dehydration or anything else that would fray the fabric of the platoon. He’d been telling the lieutenant that they needed to slow their pace and reform or they were going to be in a world of hurt. That’s when they got hit. The hammer fell in the center—snapping the already disjointed column into two writhing bloody clots of confusion. The tail-end stragglers, including the platoon’s senior NCO, were dead within the first thirty seconds.


The young lieutenant had shown tremendous maturity under the gun, and with gestures and shouts and physical manhandling had managed to pull his remaining lost lambs into a loose defensive knot from which they could assess their situation. Only the tree line offered any hope of survival. The decision was easy. The lieutenant initiated a fighting withdrawal back toward their Landing Zone. He assumed the point in the hell-bent sprint across the open ground, and Jimmie Carl brought up the rear. That’s when Private Chester Orel Evans, running directly in front of Jimmie Carl, took a single AK-47 round near his belt line. There was a moist slap, like the sound of wet hands clapping, and then he collapsed as if his body had no momentum or inertia, as if the strings had been cut. He went down with all the subtlety of a bag of odd-sized rocks. The medic dropped to the young man’s side and surveyed the wound, probing it with his index and middle fingers.


It was mortal.


The single bullet had entered in his back, just below his right kidney. It was a small circular puncture that had already closed upon itself—hardly even bloody, but in the front, where it had tumbled out of a jagged hole to the left of his navel, the accompanying shock wave had liquefied everything in its path. Jimmie Carl jabbed him with a morphine syrette and looked into his eyes. Ordinarily, he’d have painted a big “M” on his forehead with Mercurochrome to alert the docs at the aid station about the morphine, but this time it didn’t matter. This one wasn’t going to make it that far. Jimmie Carl stuffed the wound with a thick wad of gauze and then stripped off his belt and cinched it tightly around Evans’s middle to try to at least hold his guts in till he could get him somewhere better to die.


Better to die?


Jimmie Carl knew he should leave Evans and try to rejoin the other men now nearing the covering trees; Evans was dead, he just hadn’t stopped breathing, and there was nothing that was going to change that, but the lieutenant and the other men—however many were still alive—would be needing all the help they could get.


Jimmie Carl knew all of this, but he also knew that it didn’t matter. This was his day of atonement. That moment, that one crystalline point of Time when you are granted the opportunity to put the mistakes of the past to rest and square your soul with God. Jimmie Carl wasn’t going anywhere. He wasn’t leaving Evans.


Hoisting the young private onto his back and shoulders, Jimmie Carl recalled a series of bomb craters that the platoon had passed on its way in from the LZ, before they were hit. They offered the best cover. The only cover. They also were five hundred meters away—a stroll on a good day; a lifetime today.


Jimmie Carl picked up the wounded Marine’s heavy M-14 and began running. As he did so, Evans bobbed up and down on his shoulders; each time the young private expelled a strained grunt of air, like some huge, human bagpipe. And each time the grunt grew quieter as more and more air was squeezed out and wasn’t replaced. Jimmie Carl ran in a straight line; the shortest distance to the end zone. Razor grass shredded his shins. The heat and wet were oppressive and sat on his chest like a sack of moistened concrete, and Evans, small as he was, was deadweight—wet, sticky, dying weight.


Jimmie Carl could smell bowel, and his sunburned neck and back prickled and stung from bile and stomach acid that leaked from Evans’s shredded gut. The far bomb crater they had passed, the one closest to the tree line, the one that offered the best hope of survival, kept receding as he ran, farther and farther away with each step, and he felt like he was treading in waist-deep sorghum, and all the while, automatic weapons fire kept stitching a path in front of him.


His lungs bursting, Jimmie Carl dove into the first crater he came upon, throwing Evans in before him. The wounded private hit the ground and lay still, no longer even groaning. Jimmie Carl quickly pried open one of the boy’s half-closed eyes with a muddy thumb; the iris had shut down and it was dark and unresponsive and clouding up like it had been buffed with steel wool, either from death or from the effects of the morphine, yet he was still breathing. A wet, stuttering, bubbling sound percolated from deep within.


Evans was a skinny black kid from a shotgun shack outside Greensboro, North Carolina. He stuttered and got tongue-tied when anxious, which was most of the time, and had opted for the Marine Corps only when it was presented as the option to another run at the state pen—three-to-five for grand theft auto. Three-to-five versus one-and-out in a place he had never heard of—the Republic of Vietnam. He’d chosen the unknown, but when the time came he reconsidered and went AWOL from the induction center. Two SPs had found him in a snooker hall four blocks away and educated him on the Marine Corps’ lack of a sense of humor in such matters. Things hadn’t improved much after that. The four months of basic training that followed had been one long, uninterrupted stretch of disciplinary guard duty, and then came the RVN.


Evans had been universally disliked by the other men from the beginning. He’d been nothing but trouble to them since setting foot in Da Nang, and the lieutenant had been working on the necessary paperwork to get him transferred, but given personnel shortages and the ever-increasing mission tempo, the paperwork kept getting lost at headquarters. What no one in the unit could comprehend was why Jimmie Carl had befriended the boy; had sought him out when all others had turned a shoulder. It made no sense to anyone.


Now, sitting in six inches of fetid red-black muck at the bottom of the shallow crater, Jimmie Carl inventoried his options: He had the boy’s M-14 with maybe a full clip of ammo, maybe less. He didn’t think Evans had gotten off a shot before he caught the stray in his gut. He also had his meds kit. Evans appeared to have two high-explosive M-26 grenades and an M-18 smoke canister clipped to his suspenders, and he also was carrying one of the unreliable hand-held PRC-6 “handi-talkie” radios that no one else in the squad had wanted to lug around due to the weight and so had foisted on the unpopular private.


Options. Options.


There were no options. In this case there was only one outcome—Jimmie Carl Trimble was dead and unlike the motionless Evans, he knew it. Even now, in the time that it had taken to examine the kid and survey his vitals, they had closed the distance.


Above the oily pall of cordite and dust, above the leaking, mortal stench of Evans, he could smell them now—they were that close. In about five minutes Jimmie Carl Trimble, whoever he was, whoever he had become, would cease to exist. Maybe that wasn’t a bad thing; maybe it was all for the best. Maybe it didn’t matter, but just as certain as his own death was the fact that ten minutes after that, maybe even less, two companies of well-trained North Vietnamese regulars would fall upon the fractured remnants of his platoon, and they too would cease to exist.


Unless someone did something, fast.


Jimmie Carl looked again at the radio slung around Evans’s shoulder. Maybe there was an option.


“Dwayne, Dwayne, can you read me? Over.” The heavy, piece-of-shit PRC-10 on his radioman’s back snapped and hissed as First Lieutenant Dwayne Crockett reached for the handpiece to reply. He’d gotten his men well back into the trees and was establishing a tight perimeter that he hoped they could hold until the helos got there. The radio handpiece was packed with mud, and he had to smack it repeatedly against his thigh to clear it. He could tell from his medic’s tone of voice and minimal radio formality that things were going critical. The use of his first name on the radio rather than a call sign or code words; the raw desperation; it added up to a grab-ass situation, and Jimmie Carl wasn’t the type to panic without reason. Since arriving in Vietnam almost a year ago Jimmie Carl had proven himself pragmatic to the point of fearlessness. Dwayne Crockett keyed the microphone and responded with the same informal efficiency. “I’m here, Jimmie Carl, what’s your situation? Over.” He fought to keep his voice calm and even; to not betray his surprise that Jimmie Carl was still alive.


“Up a creek…got Evans with me. Over.” Even with the hiss and static of the radio, the thick honey in Jimmie Carl’s slow southern drawl was discernible.


“Hope your paddle’s bigger than mine, buddy. What’s your position? Over.”


“That third bomb crater we passed on the way in from the LZ; the small one. It’s bad, Dwayne; Evans’s probably already gone. Poppin’ some smoke. Over.” Jimmie Carl flicked the smoke grenade over the lip of the crater. It sputtered momentarily and then began ejecting a thick stuttering plume of rust-colored smoke.


“Got your position—break,” Dwayne Crockett replied as he craned his head over the tall grass. Over the last six months he’d allowed himself to get close to the quiet navy corpsman. He’d come to rely heavily on him, his maturity and sound judgment. Now as he watched the plume of smoke rise in the distance, he took stock of his remaining men, gauging what they were really capable of doing. He looked back over his shoulder—no sign of the incoming helicopters. He keyed the microphone again. “Sit tight, Jimmie Carl, we’re going to work our way back down the tree line and lay down a covering fire—you’ll need to come to us—break—leave Evans, I say again, leave Evans. Over.”


“Negative, Lieutenant.” Jimmie Carl responded quickly. “There’s a whole lot of bad guys here that want to have a talk with y’all, and they’ll be crawlin’ up your skinny coon ass soon enough. Do not, I say again,do not advance this position. You read me, Dwayne? Over.” Jimmie Carl had no intention of letting Dwayne expose the remaining men to any more heat than was necessary for their own survival, and he also had no intention of leaving Evans, even if it would have made a difference. It was time to end the secrets and the lies and the sleepless nights. It was that crystal-clear moment.


“I hear you, Doc. Maybe you got a plan I don’t know about? Over.” Dwayne rose up again to mark Jimmie Carl’s location as the smoke began to dissipate and drift away.


It was a matter of who would put voice to the plan first. Jimmie Carl could delay until the helicopters arrived and hope that Dwayne and the rest could withdraw faster than the NVA could shoot at them. “Y’all need a head start—break—y’all got to buy some breathin’ room. Only one way to make that purchase, and you know it. Make the call, Dwayne. Over.”


“Say again? Over.” Dwayne was stalling, and Jimmie Carl knew it. And there wasn’t time.


“You heard me, Dwayne…make the call. Put it on my head. Y’all read that, Lieutenant? On my head. Over.”


“Negative. We’ll figure something out. Over.” Dwayne continued to stall.


“You heard me, Lieutenant. Nothin’ more to figure. Make the friggin’ call. For God’s sake, make the call, Dwayne—while there’s still some smoke for a marker. Over.”


Dwayne found it hard to answer, but he knew Jimmie Carl was right. He knew what had to be done. The helos were still ten minutes out, the NVA maybe five. “Hold one. Break,” Dwayne finally responded. He spread the mission map out on his knee and used his finger to trace the map coordinates from the edges. He switched frequencies and made the radio call, and then two long minutes later he rekeyed the mic for Jimmie Carl, “Forgive me, buddy…Over.”


“Semper Fi, Do or Die,” Jimmie Carl said gently. “No forgivin’ necessary, Bubba. Over.”


Dwayne had no response. He gripped the handpiece tightly and scanned the sky for any sign of the incoming helos. The race was on. If only they’d arrive.If only.


The radio popped and hissed for several seconds and then Jimmie Carl’s voice broke through again, strange and lacking the calm decisiveness that it had held moments before. “Dwayne?” It was hard to hear him. Already overhead was a vibrating roar, like a bed sheet being torn quickly in two.


“Yeah, buddy, I’m here. Over.” Dwayne found himself shouting into the microphone.


“Dwayne…ain’t no time to explain…been too long…I need to hear it again, Dwayne. You hear me? Can’t die this way. Aw, Jesus, Dwayne…you hear me? I need to hear it again. One last time…can you call me…”


“Call you what? Jimmie Carl, call you what? Over…goddamn you, Jimmie Carl, call you what? Over.”


But Jimmie Carl Trimble never finished his sentence. He looked up just in time to see two silver-colored napalm canisters come tumbling in, ass over elbows.









Chapter 1




Split Tree, Arkansas


FRIDAY, AUGUST12, 2005



Split Tree was a simple town of great complexity.


In the big, wide scheme of things, it had never seemed to rise to the occasion. Even in the boom days before imported cotton had bottomed out the local market, Split Tree hadn’t really amounted to much; just a flat, even-tempered, east Arkansas collection of ramshackle that even its most ardent bred-in-the-bone supporters sometimes had to admit was a waste of good dirt.


And nowadays it seemed to have even less working in its favor.


Dirt was actually the word most appropriately used when you needed something to finish a sentence that started with Split Tree. The whole town was like fine grit in the teeth. Grit and silt and dry, wind-blown floodplain clay.Dirt . In fact, the community gave the impression of having collected about the county courthouse in much the same manner that dirt and cotton lint seem to drift up around a tree stump in the middle of a field—not organization as much as lazy convenience.


Like many southern river towns devoid of troublesome topography, Split Tree was organized like a checkerboard with a baseline that ran straight east to west, from sunup to sundown. The eastern anchor was the three-story red-brick and limestone courthouse, the seat of county political affairs for over 150 years; to the west, on Tupelo Road, was the Bell Brothers Cotton Gin, the seat of gossip and economic business for even longer. Long-fiber cotton was on the wane, and the Dew family—who’d purchased the Bell gin during the Depression but kept the name out of deference to tradition—had been forced to expand the business to one of general agricultural supply. It had even started selling Japanese-made tractors with long, funny names, but increasingly it was having a hard time competing against the co-op, and there was a persistent rumor of imminent closure.


Split Tree was not a bad town, but somehow it woke up one morning on the wrong side of the century. It was a place where most folks still found it rude to be rude; where the women retained a quiet sense of grace and composure, and men still visited their mothers every Sunday afternoon. The kind of place where people still knew the name of every dog in town.


A place where very little seemed to happen, and very little had ever happened.


Almost.


In the late summer of 1965 Split Tree, Arkansas, hit its high-water mark of excitement when two bodies were found; one black, one white; one identified, one unknown. And as they say in Split Tree, that sort of thing don’t happen just any old day.


The identified body created the most stir—at least at the time—as it proved to be the physical remains of one Leon Jackson, late of Natchez, Mississippi. The unidentified remains certainly caused their fair share of head-scratching, but as Split Tree was a small community and since none of her native sons were known to be missing, conjecturing as to the identity of the unknown body soon subsided into little more than a stray barbershop topic.


But Leon Jackson wasn’t so easily forgotten, no matter how much some wished that he were.


Leonidas Stephen Jackson was either a civil rights martyr or a goddamn Negro that had no business west of the Mississippi River; your particular view depended largely on whether you lived in lowland east Arkansas in the 1960s or wrote for big-city newspapers along the Atlantic seaboard. Regional perspectives aside, the reality was that Mr. Jackson was a would-be civil rights organizer who lacked the physical presence or visceral charisma of a Medgar Evers or Martin Luther King, and even by the most generous historical reckonings, was decidedly second shelf. Which is precisely why he ended up in the floodplain of eastern Arkansas in 1965 rather than Mississippi or Alabama or Georgia or one of the more racially charged crucibles of that era. Arkansas was on the periphery of the civil rights movement—Governor Orval Faubus and the forced integration of Little Rock’s Central High School notwithstanding—and an obscure Negro championing the cause of backwater Arkansas cotton farmers and black sharecroppers who wanted little more than to be left alone did not fire the imagination of eastern publishers the way German shepherds and fire hoses and lunch-counter sit-ins did. In fact, when Leon Jackson disappeared after last being seen at an African Episcopal Methodist church on the outskirts of West Helena, no one, not even his family over in Natchez, realized he was missing for several weeks.


If the truth were told, Leonidas Jackson became a historical footnote not because he was murdered, but because his body had the singular good timing to wash out of a flooded, earthen levee less than a year after the bodies of Goodman, Cheney, and Schwerner were found in an earthen dam in Neshoba County, Mississippi. Across the river. Even then he would have faded into complete anonymity had the eastern press not opportunistically connected the two incidents, despite the obvious differences—not the least of which being that they occurred a good two hundred miles apart.


Split Tree’s second body was found almost a month later, in September, when the rain stopped and the Mississippi River flood clay dried up enough that the FBI was able to dig up more of the levee. The fact that the second body was that of a young, white male—like Goodman and Schwerner—seemed to confirm to all the northern fire-eaters, whose limited knowledge of Arkansas had been gleaned fromLum and Abner radio shows, that something fell shadowed the whole South. But try as the authorities might, the second body was never identified, and the case was never closed.


Which is precisely why Special Agent Michael Levine found himself in Split Tree, Arkansas, on a blister-hot August afternoon forty years later, specifically in the office of Locust County Sheriff Waymond Ray Elmore.


 


“Holy shit. Can it get any frigging hotter?” Levine said as he walked into the office. The comment was directed at his own discomfort more than at anyone in the room. A mumble as he plucked at the front of his light-blue cotton shirt, tugging it away from his moistening chest. Little rivulets of sweat were snaking down his skin and pooling at his belt line in the small of his back, making it hard to keep still. It was early in the day, but already the thermometer at the Farmer’s Bank showed 102 degrees, and the humidity was well over 80 percent for the fifth straight day. The air had the sullen feel of an impending storm, but the skies were clear and the sun shone down unmolested. Levine had endured long, painful summers growing up in a two-story brick walk-up in Brooklyn; he’d humped the jungle in Southeast Asia with a forty-pound rucksack on his back as an eighteen-year-old ground-pounding infantry grunt, but this heat was different. It had a personality and a closed agenda. It had been bad enough in Memphis, where he had been transferred four long months ago, but the heat in this little east Arkansas toaster oven was physically assaulting. Its presence closed in around you and hugged you tight, sitting on your chest and catching your breath like some unforgettable shame.


“Excuse the language, Sheriff. Probably not the most appropriate introduction. Special Agent Michael Levine, Federal Bureau of Investigation,” Levine said, flashing his tin as he settled into a modern plastic-and-fabric spring-backed office chair that looked as totally out of place in the old building as did the sheriff’s modern wood-laminate desk. An understrength, asthmatic box air-conditioner rattled and clicked in a nearby window and was managing to take some edge off the heat—but only the edge.


“Understandable. Yeah, it’s some kind of hot all right,” said Sheriff Elmore as he watched his visitor take a seat. The whole room had been renovated recently with a dropped acoustic-tile ceiling and the contemporary palette of the neooffice that seemed designed to erase the character from historic buildings. Waymond Elmore hated it. Even more, he hated the fact that his office had been one of the first to undergo the facelift. “Would of thought y’all be used to this, though. From Memphis, ain’t that right?”


“Not by a long shot, Sheriff, just temporarily detailed to the field office there.” Levine reflexively distanced himself from anything Dixie—not that he could be mistaken for a local. He still hoped that his time in the South was a temporary unpleasantness, kind of like a summer cold that could be cleared up in a short time if only you took proper care of yourself. That was the problem, however; Levine had made a career of not taking care of himself.


The agent surveyed the sheriff’s office. The desk was relatively clean and indicated either a lack of work or a surplus of efficiency. Levine’s natural inclination when dealing with what he viewed as red-faced molasses suckers like this one was to assume utter incompetence, and therefore, the former. In his short sojourn in southern culture, he had come to take this as axiomatic. The walls were painted a thin chocolate-milk brown—a color that he still called beige despite its current reclassification as taupe—and were as bare as the desk except for a framed picture of grizzly wading into frothy white water to snag a leaping salmon. Above the picture was the wordDetermination; there was something written under it as well, in dark blue script, but he lacked both the eyesight and the interest to try to discern it. He had seen the same picture in an advertisement in an airline magazine recently. There was a single, framed photograph of two small, tow-headed boys on the sheriff’s desk—too young to be current unless they were grandchildren—next to a plastic twenty-ounce Dr Pepper bottle that contained a half-inch of something resembling diluted coffee grounds. From the lump visible under the sheriff’s gum Levine surmised that it was what he grew up hearing his grandfather call snuff, but was now marketed as “smokeless tobacco.”


“Just what is it I can do for y’all now, Agent…I’m sorry…”


“Levine.”


“That’s right, Levine…now, what can I do for y’all, Mr. Levine?” Despite his upbringing, Sheriff Elmore was in no mood to be cordial and was hardly even inclined to be polite to a man that smelled of big-city smug. He was ready to get this meeting over with, although, truth be told, he had virtually nothing to do for the remainder of the afternoon, but he had taken a visceral dislike to this federal yahoo at first glance—this tall man with his necktie and his sport coat and his lined face that was starting to flush a dull, mottled red. Elmore was anxious to set him on his way on principle alone, not to mention the unpleasant fact that the FBI agent had mentioned the Jackson/John Doe murder earlier on the telephone, and he certainly didn’t welcome walking that dog no matter how long the leash.


Levine had to swallow hard to avoid a wave of nausea brought on by the heat and the smell of stale cigarette smoke and Elmore’s old hair tonic. Since moving to Memphis he had spent more time eating and less time exercising, and now as he leaned forward in his seat the slight movement made him realize that his shirt collar was fitting too tightly. He felt like his eyes were bulging with each pulse. “Well, Sheriff, as I mentioned to you over the phone, the Bureau has decided to take a fresh look at the Leon Jackson/John Doe case…you’re familiar with it, I’m sure.”


“Yes, sir.” Thesir part was clearly said out of local custom and not deference. Elmore almost defied his upbringing and left it off. “Course I would be, just like anyone else around here my age. Don’t say I remember much, though. Believe it happened the summer I graduated high school. It was news…at the time. But then you boys solved that one, as I recall. Klan related, so y’all said.” He smiled as he spoke, but it was a look that conveyed no amusement.


Waymond Elmore’s voice was high-pitched and sounded something like a car skidding on hot asphalt. It crackled and skipped with a nervous energy that belied his slow demeanor. He was a tall man, not a giant, but good-sized, with shoulders as wide as a yellow broom handle, and the muscles stood out on his body like knots on a branch of weathered driftwood. His once silty-brown crew-cut hair had long ago salted into a pale cement gray that matched his eyes, and deep furrows plowed by over fifty years of river basin sun etched his face. He’d been a handsome man at one time, but that time was over and now there was a profound weariness shadowing his looks, like a man who’d reached the end of his options and saw no content in his future.


“Well, that’s not quite accurate,” Levine corrected for the record, though he suspected that the sheriff was well aware that the case had never been closed. One of the worst aspects of his posting to Memphis was that he had to spend an inordinate amount of time with tin stars like this one. He absolutely hated having to dick-dance around with these backwater good ole boys, and in five minutes he had made this one out to be a colossal putz. “You’re right that the Bureau established a circumstantial link between Jackson’s murder—and that of the John Doe found with him—and the Klu Klux Klan, but no one was ever brought to trial.” Levine tended to avoid using the pronounwe when he referred to the Bureau. He figured there was some degree of symmetry in the matter since he was absolutely positive that the Bureau avoided usingwe when they referred to him.


He continued, “In fact, as I mentioned earlier when we spoke on the phone, that’s precisely why I’m here. As I’m sure you’re aware, there’s been a string of convictions recently in some of the unsolved cases from the sixties. Cherry and Blanton in the ’63 Alabama church bombing, de la Beckwith for the Medgar Evers murder, and most recently the arrest and conviction in the Goodman, Cheney, Schwerner murders over in Mississippi. The Emmett Till killing has been reopened, and the Bureau believes that with some of the new forensic technology that’s available, it may prove worthwhile to reopen the investigation into the Jackson case as well.” Levine knew this was utter bullshit. Certainly new forensic techniques—notably DNA testing—were sometimes applicable in older cases like this, but that wasn’t why he was here. The reality was that Levine had jammed up an influential senator from Pennsylvania on some insider trading and hadn’t backed off when the Bureau told him to permanently file the evidence. Instead, a reporter for thePhiladelphia Inquirer got an anonymous package filled with classified FBI case memoranda. The result was predictable: The senator announced that he had decided to spend more time with his family and would not stand for reelection, and Levine was detailed to Memphis to work on what he suspected was the Bureau’s equivalent of a snipe hunt. He was a white-collar crime specialist—bank fraud, money laundering—with no training in murder investigations except for a few courses at the Academy, years ago. Given the right case, it was a matter of when he stepped on his dick, not if. In a forty-year-old unsolvable crime, the Bureau was baking up a payback pie. He’d even figured out the recipe: Send one asshole Levine to jerkwater Crackerland, run him around in useless circles until thoroughly mixed, bake his nuts at 110 degrees for six months, and serve with voluntary retirement papers.


“Very interestin’, Agent…?”


“It’s Levine, same as it was two minutes ago, Sheriff. Special Agent Levine.” He was really starting to work up a case of the ass for this guy. There was something about him that made Levine want to punch his lights out, though he couldn’t articulate precisely what.


“That’s right, that’s right…seems to be a hard name for me to remember, Agent Levine. But tell me…Agent…Levine…that case over in Mississippi…”


“Goodman, Cheney, Schwerner.”


“That’s right. That one. In case you don’t read the newspapers, that one was tried in state court. You Feds had your shot at that fella way back in the sixties and couldn’t make it stick.”


Levine took a deep breath. “You’re correct, Sheriff. The point is, these old cases, like the Jackson case, are still prosecutable—no matter what jurisdiction officially takes it. But it seems that sometimes the…the local authorities need a push.”


“And y’all here to push?”


Levine returned a humorless smile. “If need be.”


Elmore nodded slowly, as if he were considering what Levine had said. “So what has any of this got to do with the Locust County sheriff’s office? Course, we certainly would like to hep y’all in any way we can, but we have a pretty busy caseload of our own to tend to.”


Yeah,Levine thought,I’m sure you do, Sheriff, got to catch all those Colombian drug lords who are putting cherry bombs in Farmer Pudd’s mailbox.


So much for the get-to-know-you courtesy call. After only a few minutes Levine figured he knew this guy’s type well enough, and Elmore’s attitude was making him feel anything but courteous. That and the heat. Even with air-conditioning, the sheriff’s office, which was on the southwest corner of the second floor of the old county courthouse building, was probably pushing eighty-five degrees—though Sheriff Waymond Elmore didn’t seem to notice. As he’d been driving to the courthouse that morning, Levine had already decided that today might be a good day to get drunk, or strangle somebody, or both. In fact, he could have envisioned any number of things, but sitting in this sweatbox talking to this little uniformed redneck jerk had not made it onto the short list. Levine decided to start pulling this meeting to a close before he did something that the Bureau would try to make him apologize for later.


“Glad for the offer of…hep. Look, Sheriff, the Bureau has some jurisdictional involvement in certain aspects of the case, namely the civil rights angle, but the victims’ bodies were found in Locust County, and I believe that makes this case yours, technically. Always has been. The reason I’m here is basically to take a fresh look at it. You know, review any new information your office has; talk to some residents in the area to see if there are any new leads; shake the tree and collect the nuts. I will tell you, however, that we have initiated DNA testing on some of the evidence found in 1965 and that avenue looks very promising.” Levine hated forced civility, absolutely hated it, and this was as forced as it got.


Sheriff Elmore looked at the special agent with a silent derision he normally reserved for avowed evolutionists and female sports anchors. After a moment, he rocked his chair back and unscrewed the cap of the Dr Pepper bottle. Without breaking eye contact with Levine he put his lips to the bottle, dribbled a long rope of muddy brown saliva into it, and recapped it before speaking. “And just what sort of promisin’ evidence might’n that be? This here evidence from 1965 that y’all are testin’.”


Levine stared hard at Elmore’s face, trying to read the concentric lines around his eyes as if they were tree rings. He’d mentioned that the murder had occurred the summer that he graduated from high school.That would make him about my age, a year older probably, Levine thought to himself—midfifties, give or take a couple.Of course that was assuming that the sheriff graduated in twelve years, which Levine was beginning to seriously doubt. Levine had finished high school a year after the murder occurred, Erasmus High class of 1966. The year Sandy Koufax won twenty-seven games and hung up his spikes. The year the Supreme Court made Miranda a household name. The year before the U.S. Army awarded Levine a full-ride scholarship to the University of Reality in Phuc Me Long Province, South Vietnam.


“As you may recall, the second body—the John Doe—was found with some bloody clothing, and not much else. No identification materials, no wallet, no jewelry. The remains were too badly decomposed to identify back then. The Bureau retained samples of the shirt and pants for trace evidence analysis—there were some hairs found on the shirt at the time that were of interest to the folks in Trace. So far that hasn’t panned out, but now the interest has shifted to the blood. All they could really say in 1965 was that it was A positive. Chances are that the blood is his—the John Doe’s, that is—at least that’s always been the assumption, but there’s always a chance that it may be some sort of castoff from the perpetrator. The hope is that DNA testing may shed some new light on either the identity of the victim or the identity of the murderer. Either way…” He paused to give Sheriff Elmore time to respond or even show a spark of interest.


He did neither, so Levine continued. “And that’s the other reason I’m here; since we had the clothing in our custody, we were able to initiate the testing on that. The body, however, or more accurately, what I’ve been told I can assume is probably a skeleton, is assumed to be here in Locust County—I presume still at your medical examiner’s office.” Levine thought he detected the slightest flicker behind Elmore’s eyes. Quick, then gone. “I need to obtain some samples from the remains so the lab can compare the DNA from the clothing to them.”


“Well now, Mr…. Levine,” the sheriff said as he leaned forward, placing his elbows on this desk and interlacing his fingers on top of a large, outdated 2001 write-on desk calendar that read“Bing Bros. New and Used Automobiles.” His chair creaked under his shifting weight. “In the first place, Locust County doesn’t have a medical examiner. This here’s a coroner state, and that’s just what we have—a coroner—and in the second place, I can almost guarantee you that he doesn’t have no bones left over from 1965.”


Levine sat silently for a moment, until he was sure that Elmore had finished, and then he responded. “Sheriff, I’m sure you can appreciate that that information isn’t exactly what the Bureau wants to hear. There is no statute of limitations on murder, and as I reminded you a few minutes ago, this is an open homicide—a rather high-profile homicide—and the expectation in an open homicide is that important evidence will be retained. Now, I suspect that you may simply be mistaken about the whereabouts of the remains.” Levine knew virtually nothing about homicide investigations, and he was wondering if this small-town sheriff would know enough to call his bluff. “I’m sure your coroner is aware of this case. I guess he’s the one I should really be talking to. I’m here as a professional courtesy only. I need to pay him a visit.” Levine had no prior experience with small-town America coroners, but he’d been debriefed at the office not to expect too much. Unlike medical examiners, coroners usually were elected positions that did not require a medical degree, simply a voter’s card and a felony-free record. In fact, the coroner system originated around the time of the Magna Carta and was more concerned then with tax collection than anything else. In the United States, coroners often were funeral directors who supplemented their income with a county paycheck.


“Knock yourself silly, Mr. Levine, but I’m tellin’ you that you’re wastin’ your time down here in Locust County tryin’ to sniff out anythin’ on that old case. I truly am sorry that that Mr. Jackson fella came down here and got hisself killed and all, but that was almost forty years ago. Don’t serve no purpose to be whackin’ that hornet’s nest—don’t matter what kind of new scientific stick y’all got to do it with. And it don’t matter what exactly the Bureau wants to hear.” Sheriff Elmore focused on Levine’s eyes and didn’t blink. His look took on a sharpness that was almost feral in its hardness. “My advice is to let dead men rest in peace, Mr. FBI Special Agent, just let them sleep.”


“And killers? Mr. Locust County Sheriff.” Levine hadn’t given a real damn about this case ten minutes ago, but that was beginning to change. He rose from his chair faster than he intended. His head swam with the movement and the heat, and he was forced to steady himself by leaning on the edge of the sheriff’s desk. The effect was primal. “Do we let killers sleep?”


The sheriff looked down at his fingers momentarily and then brought his eyes up again to meet Levine’s. The contempt that had blazed from Waymond Elmore’s face throughout the meeting had burned out and been replaced by something else. Something that Levine couldn’t get a quick handle on. “What makes you think a killer can ever sleep, Mr. Levine?”









Chapter 2




U.S. Army Central Identification Laboratory, Hawaii


FRIDAY, AUGUST12, 2005



“D.S., how about you callin’ a staff meeting in about five minutes or so…it’ll be a short one,” Robert Dean McKelvey didn’t slow his pace, but rather called out over his shoulder as he walked by the deputy laboratory director’s office. It was Friday morning, but already the day was shaping up to be nothing but a sack of serious headaches. It had started almost immediately. The commander had greeted him at the front door with the news that the secretary of defense was thinking about paying the Lab a visit next week. His plane was scheduled to refuel in Hawaii on his way back to Washington from a visit to China, and his aides thought he could make use of the downtime by visiting the Lab. McKelvey knew that visits like that always added up to nothing short of a painful waste of time and patience. The perfect start to his first day back at work.


Most people at the Lab called himKel. Actually, he had been called Kel pretty much his whole life, at least by those on familiar terms, and even some that weren’t. Robert had been his father’s given name and his grandfather’s before that, and while his parents gave it to their youngest son for sentimental reasons, the family also had intentionally shied away from using it with reference to him to avoid the inevitable confusion that would follow. There would be noBig Bob andLittle Bob for the McKelveys. The problem, of course, was that it didn’t leave many options when you needed to call him for dinner. His middle name, Dean, wasn’t at all a serious contender for casual use. It was an unrealized childhood aspiration hung on him by his three older brothers almost fifty years earlier. They had lived and breathed St. Louis Cardinal baseball at that point in their lives and wanted the newest addition to the family to grow up like one of the famous Arkansas Dean brothers. The sobering reality was that if his parents had not intervened to the extent that they had, he’d have been named RobertDizzy McKelvey for sure—or even worse,Daffy. Kel always reckoned that by comparison to those two very real possibilities, Dean wasn’t so bad—so long as no one used it, which no one did. But the basic problem remained: Ex-out Robert and Dean from the usable list of names and that didn’t leave much by way of an option except Mac—which everyone hated. In the end, he was called Kel. Had been for as long as he could remember.


“Jesus F. Christ, we need a visit from the SecDef like I need someone to piss in my left ear,” Kel muttered to himself as he unlocked his office door and stepped square into a pile of memos and brown case-file folders that people had been feeding under his door while he’d been gone. A few skated out from under his foot. It was like stepping into a puddle of slippery brown mud. Kel had just flown in from spending a week in the communist time warp of North Korea, and thanks to the combined magic of jet travel and the International Date Line he had managed to arrive thirty minutes before he’d taken off. As if five workdays in a week were not sufficient, he now had the opportunity for an encore performance. Not only that, but days at the CILHI must be measured in dog years, he often thought; one week gone somehow added up to seven weeks of accumulated work. Certainly there appeared to be at least seven-weeks’ worth of folders piled on his floor.


And now the secretary of defense.


Nothing personal against the SecDef, he had seemed to be a nice enough guy the few times Kel had met him, but VIP visits to the CILHI were like putting your tongue in an electric pencil sharpener—a novel enough experience the first time around, but not something that needed frequent repeating. And lately they were repeating much too frequently. Besides, Kel knew that the chances were quite high that the only productive thing to come out of this visit would be the first sergeant getting all the cigarette butts policed up out of the parking lot—which was not a bad thing—but more often than not, visits of this level began with the commander having everyone jumping through flaming hoops of shit, and then ended, at the last possible moment, with the entire visit being canceled.


Kel stood looking at the folders scattered underfoot. In one shining epiphany it occurred to him to simply close the door, go home, and never return. Then it passed, and he knelt and began scooping the pile into his arms. That’s when Davis Smart poked his head in.


“Everyone’s ready and waiting in the conference room,” D.S. reported as he glanced at the accumulated paperwork. He smiled. “I promised everyone you’d keep it short. Told ’em you had lots of work to do.”


Kel looked up at his deputy. His eyes were much too bright for any workday morning, Kel decided, especially if you were starting your second one in the last twenty-two hours, and he couldn’t help but notice theit-sure-is-crap-to-be-you tone that edged itself into his voice.


“Can you believe all these files?” Kel asked.


“Wait till you open your e-mails—I was out sick for two days and I had over five hundred waiting for me when I got back. I’ll bet you have a thousand, fifteen hundred, easy.”


“Great,” Kel said, standing up. He was normally taller than D.S. by a couple of inches, but he was still kinked up from the long airplane flight, and they were now leveled almost eye to eye. “That’s what I need, and, oh, by the way, are you ready for some really good news? The commander snagged me on the way in. It seems that the SecDef has decided that the CILHI is an absolute must-see. This comin’ Friday’s what I’m told. We continue to be the hottest tourist attraction on the island.”


“Yeah. But look on the bright side, at least we’ll get all the cigarette butts picked up.” D.S. smiled. “C’mon. Staff’s ready.”









Chapter 3




Quang Nam Province, Republic of Vietnam


WEDNESDAY, 12 OCTOBER1966



First Lieutenant Dwayne Crockett found it hard to get his bearings. His head was swimming, and the overpowering smell of kerosene and scorched earth stung the lining of his nose and made him salivate as if he were going to vomit. Everything had changed, and he hadn’t counted on that. He closed his eyes and he could see it; the image was seared into his brain, and he knew he would never forget a single detail. Not a single, life-rending detail.


But now everything was changed.


The napalm strike that had killed Jimmie Carl Trimble—the napalm strike that Dwayne Crockett had called in on his medic’s head—had accomplished its purpose of buying enough time and space for him to extract his remaining men. Successive flights of Air Force F-105 Thunderchiefs and Marine Corps Corsairs had then thoroughly relandscaped the area into the oily, blackened moonscape that Dwayne now surveyed.


Everything’s changed.


He’d lost seven men, including his medic and friend; there were another five injured. And those were just his men. Two other platoons had been hit a couple of klicks away. All totaled up, Operation Snap-Dragon, as some chair-warmer at Headquarters had named the mission, had spent the lives of thirty-one Marines and one navy corpsman—Dwayne Crockett’s navy corpsman. Predictably, the SITREP, the daily situation reports sent out by headquarters, established for the record—lest the facts somehow confuse the matter later—that the operation had been an overwhelming tactical and strategic success. The enemy had been sorely hurt; set back months, if not longer; its will broken. Perhaps that was all true. All Dwayne knew was that he and his men had successfully had their asses handed to them in a shiny paint can, and he had the ghosts of seven dead men to hang around his neck for the rest of his life.


Initially the commander hadn’t wanted Dwayne to lead the recovery mission for the bodies. He was too junior and too personally involved, the Old Man had said, but that was before Dwayne had insisted almost to the point of physical insubordination, and now he was here—on the surface of friggin’ Mars trying to piece together his bearings. He’d wanted to come back immediately. So had most of his men. Gear up and get back. Same day. Instead, they were told to wait. They waited. And waited. It had taken six days for the area to cool off—figuratively if not literally—during which time Dwayne had slept very little. He’d lost men before—too many in his short commission—but never like this. Never had he so plainly anted-up another man’s chips to save his own life. Everyone said that he did what was right; everyone said he’d done what he had to do; everyone said that he’d saved the lives of his men. He was even up for a medal. But he would always wonder.


Had he done it to save them?


Had he done it to save himself?


For six long days the radio conversation replayed itself over and over and over in his brain. He heard it waking and sleeping.“Make the call, Lieutenant…Semper Fi…No forgiving necessary, Bubba…” Over and over and over. And then that last cryptic—what was it? He had barely been able to hear it over the searing rip of the incoming jets. Had it been a request? A plea? What was it?“Call me…” Jimmie Carl had asked him, and then nothing but static and a wall of heat and the greasy smell of kerosene.


Call you what? Jimmie Carl, call you what?


That had been six endless days ago. Now they were back, and in force this time. They’d come back with a purpose and a will that had been lacking before. Dwayne’s small recovery team was phalanxed by two reinforced Marine infantry companies and enough air support circling overhead to level the eastern Tennessee foothills of his youth.


Predictably, the first five bodies had been located relatively quickly. They were in the open, and in the heat and humidity they had started going fast. Decomp was in an advanced stage for only six days; yellow-brown bones with soft, unrecognizable lumps and masses of wet tissue. And maggots. Everywhere. Millions of them. The bodies were found near the small grassy clearing near where the Vietnamese had first struck Dwayne’s men less than a week ago. The majority of the shitstorm unleashed by the Thuds and Corsairs had been almost half a klick to the south and southwest. Some ordnance—mostly antipersonnel bombies—had scattered its way here, and a couple of the bodies were partially fragmented. There were some Viet bodies here as well, but from the looks of the injuries they probably had been killed by Dwayne’s men and not by the metal rain unleashed from above.


It was farther to the south that Dwayne was having a difficult time getting his landmarks. Jimmie Carl had taken cover in a small bomb crater near a cluster of trees and elephant grass. But where were the trees? They were all gone to splinters, and the whole friggin’ field was nothing but craters now.


One huge, blackened sea of bomb craters for a hundred meters in every direction.


Everything had changed.


It took the better part of three hours to locate the spot, during which time the men of Dwayne’s protective umbrella grew increasingly anxious. The talk grew louder and more rapid-paced as adrenaline levels increased beyond the level of fighting efficiency. Few men relish the idea of dying to recover the already dead, even never-leave-a-buddy-behind Marines, and every minute spent on this moonscape was another roll of the dice, in their eyes. Steadily the talk grew louder and more pointed, but Dwayne didn’t want to hear it. He had already decided to shoot the first sonofabitch who tried to pull the plug on this mission—regardless of their rank. He’d abandoned Jimmie Carl Trimble once; he wouldn’t do it again.


As it turned out, it was a young Hispanic lance corporal who first spotted the body. He had followed the sound of an electric buzz, almost like that given off by an old neon light about to flame out, and it turned out to be an enormous swarm of flies.


His other senses took over from there.


When Dwayne reached the crater, it took him several moments to realize that what he saw the men working with was a human body and not one of the many burned tree trunks that had been tossed like wheat straw so randomly about the clearing. Jimmie Carl Trimble’s lower body, the legs and hips, were gone. Never to be found. His upper body, the head and torso, was charred and weeping a clear yellow fluid, and the muscles in his arms had contracted in the heat so that his arms were pulled up in front like a dog begging for table scraps. But it was a body. Once your brain patterned the features it was unmistakable. And it was Jimmie Carl’s body—Dwayne didn’t have to bend over and examine the blackened dog tag visible amid the burned chest wall. It was Jimmie Carl’s body—the pair of surgical forceps fused to the left breast tissue, right where Jimmie Carl carried them in his left pocket, told him what he needed to know.


Dwayne Crockett turned away as two of his men used their rifle butts to roll and tip the remains into a green body bag.


“Call you what? Jimmie Carl, call you what?”









Chapter 4




Split Tree, Arkansas


FRIDAY, AUGUST12, 2005



“You be Mr. Levine?”


Special Agent Levine had been so royally pissed off when he left Sheriff Elmore’s office that he could have taken a bite out of an anvil and crapped nails for a week. That, combined with the absolutely brain-melting heat, had conspired to make him feel like he’d been spun around very quickly in circles and snapped on the back of the head with a wet towel. He had purchased a can of Pepsi Cola from the overweight blind vendor who ran a gum-and-cough-drop store in the corner of the courthouse’s main lobby and was taking a seat at a small, unstable, cranberry-colored Formica table when the young deputy sheriff approached him.


“I’m Special Agent Levine, Federal Bureau of Investigation, and what can I do for you, Deputy?” Levine kept his eyes focused on the beads of sweat forming on his can of Pepsi and readied himself for what appeared to be the start of Round Two. “Can I assume Sheriff Elmore sent you to find me? And what might be on his game plan? Going to try and give me a body cavity search?”


The pie-faced deputy eyed Levine with that proprietary blend of awe and disdain that small-town cops reserve for federal agents. He tried tilting his head sideways in hopes that a change of perspective would enhance his understanding. It didn’t. “No sir, can’t rightly say I’m into that sort of thing—but then I’m just a small-town sheriff’s deputy.”


Levine looked up at the deputy for the first time. He was a young, chubby kid, with short cotton-blond hair and deep blue eyes the color of roadside chicory. His face was shiny and moist, but not sweaty, just moist. He was average height, maybe a shade smaller, and he adequately filled out a tan uniform shirt similar to the one that Sheriff Elmore had been wearing. His name badge readBEVINS , and aside from a six-pointed star over the left pocket, an American flag on one sleeve, and an embroidered Locust County sheriff’s patch on the other, his uniform was relatively plain and stood in sharp contrast to his glossy black leather gun belt, from which hung a vast array of all of the latest crime-fighting accessories that the county budget could handle.


“Sorry. Mike Levine, FBI,” he extended his hand and flashed the first smile he’d allowed himself since he’d arrived in Split Tree. “Can I buy you a soda?” He nodded his head at the Pepsi can in his left hand.


“Y’all make it a Coke Cola and you got yourself a deal,” the deputy said enthusiastically as he pumped Levine’s hand twice and drew up an adjacent chair. As he leaned forward, the small table canted in his direction. “Jim Bevins, glad to make y’all’s acquaintance. Just about everyone here calls me Jimbo, no reason for you to be the exception now.”


“Don’t be so sure…about being glad to meet me, that is.” Levine raised his arm and made a motion, the way you would in a city restaurant—but not the way you would to a blind vendor in Split Tree, Arkansas. He immediately realized that that was going to be about as productive as talking to the sheriff had been and pulled his arm in, hoping that no one else had seen him.


“Don’t think that’s goin’ get you too far there, Mr. Levine.” Jimbo Bevins smiled and stretched the syllables of Levine’s name out to an astonishing length. “Larry Lee there don’t see so good, no more. I’ll get this here one, and you can owe me another one later on,” he said as he got up and went to the counter. When he returned he again cocked his head to one side and looked at the FBI agent as if his facial features weren’t arranged in the same order they had been before he got up.


Levine took a long drag of his rapidly warming Pepsi, swallowed hard, rocked his chair back onto two legs, and returned the inquisitive stare. Finally he spoke. “So, tell me, Deputy Bevins, who’d you go and piss off to get assigned as my keeper? You are my keeper, aren’t you, Jimbo?”


“Well, sir, let’s just say that the sheriff thinks you might could use some assistance, not bein’ from around here and all.”


“That’s right, I’m definitely not from around here. So, you’re to be my assistant?”


“Yes, sir.” Jimbo took a slug of his Coke and set his can down with a determined clank. The table shifted its direction again. “Yessir, I am.”


Levine smiled a second time before responding. “And what if I was to tell you that I don’t need an assistant? It’s sort of like what the army used to tell me in Vietnam, if the Bureau had thought I needed an assistant they’d have issued me one. And since they didn’t—I can only guess I don’t.”


Jimbo knit his forehead as if this was really a question that required some measured thought. Then he returned the smile as he answered. “Well, as I see it, the sheriff ain’t your Bureau, he’s the sheriff, and he’s pretty sure you’re gonna.”


“I’m sure he is.” They’d been alternating drinks and now it was Levine’s turn to take a swallow. As he did so, several beads of sweat dripped off his can and spotted his tie. He brushed at them with his free hand, turning them into dark smears. He took a deep breath and held it momentarily before exhaling. “All right, Deputy Jimbo Bevins, we’ll play this game for a while.” He stood and retucked the parts of his shirttail that were working their way out of his khakis, then he tugged the lapels of his blazer, straightening the shoulders. “First order of business, Mr. Assistant, I want to talk to the local medical examiner—I believe you’d call him the county coroner. You know where I can find him?”


“Sure.” Jimbo grinned. “He’s my cousin.”


“Then let’s roll, Kato.”









Chapter 5




U.S. Army Central Identification Laboratory, Hawaii


FRIDAY, AUGUST12, 2005



“Well, I guess this really will be a short one,” Kel said as he stepped into the wood-paneled conference room adjoining the Lab’s library. It was large enough to seat forty but was now almost empty. Counting himself and D.S. there were only seven people available to attend the hurriedly called staff meeting: two dentists and three other anthropologists, including a stranger that he assumed was one of the Lab’s new interns who had been scheduled to arrive while he was in North Korea—James somebody or other.God, he looks like a kid, Kel thought.


Kel knew he shouldn’t have been surprised by all the empty chairs in the room. After all, he had just returned from visiting six of the Lab’s recovery teams in North Korea, each one headed by one of his anthropologists; added to that were another five finishing-up sites in Vietnam, four cutting their way through the jungles of southern Laos, two responding to a terrorist bombing in the Philippines that had taken out a nightclub full of tourists, one team somewhere in eastern Europe looking for a long-lost World War II crash site, and a couple more humping buckets of sand around on some Godforsaken coral atolls in the Pacific. That made twenty, and of course there was always one or two on leave, at a conference, sick, or otherwise occupied; still, the U.S. Army Central Identification Laboratory, Hawaii, was the largest forensic skeletal identification laboratory in the world, with over thirty forensic anthropologists, three forensic dentists, and eighteen search-and-recovery teams. With over two hundred personnel, it never ceased to amaze him when there wasn’t enough scientific staff around for a pickup game of basketball.


The CILHI is unique within the Department of Defense—for that matter, unique in the world. It is the only forensic laboratory with jurisdiction to recover and identify missing and unaccounted-for U.S. war dead. It has worked cases as varied as the Vietnam Unknown Soldier and the sailors of the Civil War ironclad the USSMonitor. And then there were the humanitarian missions and emergency responses like those following the 9/11 attack on the Pentagon and the Christmas tsunami of 2004. With its current staffing, the laboratory was identifying almost two men a week—an impressive statistic until the numbers were placed into perspective: There are almost 5,000 men still missing from World War I; 78,000 from World War II; 8,100 from the Korean War; 120 from the Cold War; and 1,800 from the Vietnam War.


“All right,” Kel began, taking in each face. Like D.S., they all somehow managed to look fresher than they should at the end of a long week. “I just got in an hour ago, and I freely admit that I don’t have a clue as to what’s goin’ on.” Someone started to snicker. “I know, I know, what’s new, right?—so I won’t keep y’all here long. Just wantin’ to touch base; see what’s up. In fact, I intend to be headin’ home about noon—if I don’t fall asleep sooner—so if you have anythin’ you need to talk about or need me to sign, see me before then, otherwise have D.S. take care of it or hold it until Monday. Okay? Ahhh…let’s see, no big news from the field, except that the guys in the Workers’ Paradise of North Korea are having a wonderful time and wish each and every one of y’all were there in place of them. Startin’ to get cold there already, at least at night. Otherwise nothin’ from my trip that can’t wait till Monday’s regular staff meetin’. But here’s the news du jour—in case y’all haven’t heard—the SecDef may come pay us a visit next Friday.”


Kel waited for the staff to register its predictable opinion with a harmonious groan before continuing. “Now, now, my feelin’s exactly, but let’s not get too spun up quite yet. I suspect it may still fall through, but just in case, it’d probably be a good idea to start pickin’ up the Lab a little, empty the wastebaskets, clean the coffee cups, make sure Paul doesn’t wear one of his god-awful Hawaiian shirts. Let’s not wait until next Thursday afternoon to get started. I’ll let you know the details as I get them, but wanted to give y’all at least a heads-up.” He looked around the conference table. “Other than that, I’m tapped out for today…anythin’, Dr. Smart?” Kel pointed to D.S.


“Yeah,” D.S. answered. “Ahhh…what I’ve got can wait till Monday if you’d rather, but I got a quick update on a case you were interested in before you left.” He paused as he shuffled through some notes on his lap, “It’s REFNO 145-66.” The REFNO, or reference number, indicated a Vietnam War loss. It was a numbering system established during the war to track men who went missing in action. “Wanna wait till Monday or not?”


“Go ahead.”


“Well, you’ll remember this one. Two guys involved—Evans and Trimble—ground loss in Quang Nam Province, up by the DMZ. Fairly early on in the war; 1966. Marine private and a navy medic…make that navy corpsman…anyhow, Trimble’s remains—he was the corpsman—were recovered fairly soon after the incident and identified by dental records. Evans, however, was never found. He’s still carried on the books as unaccounted for.”


“Trimble got the Navy Cross, right? Am I rememberin’ the right case?”


“That’s the one. Real Audie Murphy stuff, by all accounts. We surveyed the loss location in ’96 and again in late ’99 with no luck. Finally got some good witness information in the form of two Vietnamese who were involved in the fight—on the other side, of course.”


“All the better to know what happened.”


“Exactly. Anyhow, these two showed us an area that we excavated late last year. Very disturbed site—lots of bomb craters. Had to dig up half the province, but we recovered some fragmented skeletal remains and some material evidence—boot sole, couple of fatigue buttons—and, most important, an identification tag for Evans.”


“That’s good.”


“That’s very good; it tells us we were in the right spot, at least. So much for the good news. On the flip side, most of the bone is pretty badly burned, but four fragments were in good enough shape for DNA testing, so we sampled them last April.”


“I remember,” Kel responded. He leaned back in his chair and closed his eyes, rubbing the jet lag from his eyelids with his thumb and forefinger. He still had his eyes closed as he continued. “What’s the update? We get the results back?”


“Sort of,” D.S. answered. “Like I said, good news, bad news type of thing. We got results, but unfortunately we didn’t get the results we were hoping for. Two of the samples were inconclusive—and the other two,” he shrugged his eyebrows at the same time as he shrugged his shoulders, “don’t match the family reference sample for Evans.”


“That figures. Evans is the only guy unaccounted for from the area?”


“Yep. And it ain’t him—despite the dog tag.”


“How about Trimble? You say his body was recovered and identified at the time, right? And that was when—1966? Question I’d ask is: Was he recovered intact? Maybe some fragments of him were left on the battlefield—any chance that what we recovered is just additional parts that they didn’t find durin’ the war?”


D.S. puffed his cheeks and blew them out. He cleared his throat. “We thought the same thing, so we pulled the Tan Son Nhut file for him. From what I can tell, yes, he was missing some body parts when they recovered him in 1966, all lower body—so the leg fragments that we recovered could be him.”


During the Vietnam War, the U.S. Army ran two large identification mortuaries in-country, one at the big airbase at Tan Son Nhut on the outskirts of Saigon and a smaller one at Da Nang. The CILHI had the complete wartime file for each of the fifty-thousand-plus American servicemen identified through the two mortuaries—including body diagrams that showed what was present and what wasn’t.


“I sense abut …”


“Thebut is the biological profile. From the fragments we recovered, we could get a rough stature estimate. It’s acceptable—within two inches of both guys—it’s the age estimate that’s a little bit of a problem, though. The epiphyseal caps are unfused on the femur and the tibial fragment, so it’s a young guy, under twenty—that matches Evans okay—he was like nineteen or so—but it’s a bit young for Trimble, who was mid-twenties. But, then again, the remains aren’t in the best of shape, so…”


Kel drummed his fingers on the conference table while he thought. “So you’re sayin’ that while it could be additional parts of Trimble, it’s not very likely. Okay, so where does that leave us now?”
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